### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

CASE NO. SC 04 700

Complainant, TFB CASE NO. 202-51,684(15B)

vs.

SHELLY GOLDMAN MAURICE,

Respondent.

## RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

BY: SHELLEY B. MAURICE,

ESQ.

33436

11076 South Military Trail

Boynton Beach, FL

(561) 738-5200

Florida Bar No. 407585

##

INTRODUCTION			
STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS			
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT			
ARGUMENT		5-8	
ISSUE I:	SHELLEY GOLDMAN MAURICE DID NOT COMMIT THE VIOLATIONS AS ALLEGED AND SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN FOUND GUILTY		
ISSUE II:	FILING UNNECESSARY PROBATE CASE AND NOT KEEPING A CLIENT INFORMED IS CLEARLY EXCESSIVE ASSUMING ARGUENDO THAT THE ETHICAL VIOLATIONS WERE		
CONCLUSION	BREACHED.	9	
CFRTTFTCLTTON		1.0	

### TABLE OF CASES

Page

The Florida Bar v. McFall

863 So.2d 303 (Fla. 2003)

The Florida Bar v. Anderson

538 So. 2d 91 (Fla. 1989)

# Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions

Standard 4.42(b)

Standard 8.2

Standard 9.22(a)

Standard 9.22(d)

Standard 9.22(e)

Standard 9.22(f)

### Rules of Professional Conduct

Rule 4-1.1

Rule 4-1.3

Rule 4-1.4

Rule 4-1.5(a)

Rule 4-1,7(b)

Rule 4-3.2

Rule 4-8(c)

Rule 4-8.4(d)

### OTHER

Florida Jurisprudence

### INTRODUCTION

Throughout this Brief, Shelley Goldman Maurice ("Maurice") shall be referred to as Respondent or Maurice when not identified by name. The Florida Bar ("Bar") shall be referred to as The Florida Bar or the Bar or the Petitioner when not identified by name. Eric Spelker will be referred to as "Mr. Spelker" "R" refer to the record on appeal.

Abbreviations utilized in this brief are as follows:

"TR" refers to transcript of proceedings before the referee
"RR" refers to the report of referee

"R.Ex" refers to Respondent's Exhibits introduced into evidence in the proceedings before the Referee

## STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

The Respondent, MAURICE, is an attorney practicing law in the State of Florida having been admitted in September of 1984.

This Court has jurisdiction under Article V, Section 15 of the Florida Constitution.

On or about August 2003, a complaint to the Florida Bar was filed against Maurice by a child of the deceased and the daughter in law of the deceased alleging that the Respondent Maurice held up a sale of property and transfer of assets belonging to their child, a minor. (It should be noted that the Complaining parties were not heirs nor interested parties to the estate of the deceased, but parents to the minor child named in the deceased's will). Maurice provided the Bar with her response to Spelker's complaint and stating she never held anything up, but was in fact trying to protect the heirs from possible claims by disgruntled children who did not receive any assets of the deceased upon her death. The Bar is not alleging that any false statements were made to anyone and further not stating that Maurice misappropriated any funds.

The local grievance committee provided probable cause that Maurice violated the following Regulating the Florida Bar: 4-1.1, 4-1.3, 4-1.4, 4-1.5(a) (illegal, prohibited or clearly excessive fees and costs), 4-1.7(a), 4-1.7(b), 4-3.2, 4-8.4(c) (engage in conduct inolving dishonest, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation) and 4-8.4(d) (misconduct engaging in

conduct in connectin with the practice of law that is prejudicial to the administration of justice).

The Bar filed a one count disciplinary complaint against Maurice alleging she violated the above Rules of Professional Conduct

A referee was appointed by Court Order.

A hearing was held on August 11, 2004. The referee recommended that Maurice be found guilty of violating 4-1.1, 4-1.3, 4.1.4(a) and (b), 4-1.5(a), 4-1.7(b), 4-3.2, 4-8.4(a), 4-8.4(c) and 4-8.4(d) of the Rules of Professional Conduction of the Florida Bar.

During the Bar's case in chief and at the conclusion of the Bar's case in chief and prior to the entry of findings of guilt as to the violations charged, the Referee was presented evidence and argument relating to discipline from the Respondent (TR-4-67). The referee filed a Report and Recommendation recommending that Maurice be suspended from the practice of law for two years, attend the following CLE programs before petitioning for reinstatement,: Practiciting with Professionallism, Basic Probate and Guardianship and Ethics School and pay the Bar's costs in theese proceedings.

Maurice petitioned for review of the referee's report, challenging the referee's finding of guilt and the referee's recommendation of two year suspension.

Facts In 1998, Maurice served as legal counsel for Helen Spelker, the mother and mother in law of the complainants and drafted numerous estate planning documents for her. (Tr-6)

Maurice was named the personal representative under the two Wills of Mrs. Spelker and during her last years of illness also assisted in acting as her power of attorney. In 1999, Mrs. Spelker prepared a will which specifically directed that even though her property was in a Quit Claim Deed, she wanted all her property to go through probate. (Tr-10-11). There are no allegations that Maurice misappropriated any funds by the Bar. Maurice and a neighbor cared for Mrs. Spelker the last year of her death. Not until the death did the children appear and request Maurice to handle the sale of the property and assist them in transferring of the funds which named the grandson and another son, as direct beneficiaries.

[FN1] Mrs. Spelker died on April 2, 2001. (Tr-8).

A guardianship had to be created for the minor grandchild and for several months after the death of Spelker, Maurice was assisting the natural guardian of the minor child in setting up the guardianship and not until six months after the death of the deceased was the guardianship set up. The guardianship was necessary since the real property had to be sold through the guardian.

The additional assets of the estate consisted of a South Trust Bank Account (TR-14) and an U.S. Personnel Management life insurance policy (TR-15) which insurance proceeds went to the deceased's friend and a Social Security underpayment (TR-14) as well as a pending malpractice action (TR-14). All other assets of the deceased named direct beneficiaries. The Condominium was directed to go through probate in the Will

since the Will specifically stated that the condominium was placed in the Quit claim Deed for convenience only and the condominium was placed in the probate to protect the property from claims of creditors and because the will directed it to be placed in probate (TR-15). The conflicts of the Will and the Quit Claim Deed were discussed with the deceased, Mrs. Spelker and she understood the possible conflicts, but she wanted the specific language in her will anyway. (TR-18). Mrs. Spelker wanted specific language in the will because she wanted to make sure that the property would be protected at all costs and from claims of any of her two children who were left out of the will. (TR-18). The Respondent was asked from the daughter in law of the deceased and the son who was left out of the will what was normally charged for a probate estate and was sent a retainer agreement for probate of \$225.00 an hour and with a retainer to be paid. (TR-20). The retainer was not paid nor were any monies collected from the family members of the deceased (TR-20). The respondent even laid out all costs associated with the estate (TR-21).

The Bar contends that there was no necessity for a probate of the estate since the deceased Spelker already transferred her home to her son and her minor grandson by virtue of a "Lady Bird" deed prior to her death. Maurice contended the probate was set up to protect the assets mostly from the disgruntled children who were not named in the will and to transfer the insurance policy, the Sun Trust Account, continue with the Social Security matter and the malpractice

case.

The Bar argues that it does not matter how much or even if payment was made, Maurice sent a retainer agreement to the complainant to have the probated started. [FN2]

The Bar further alleges that Maurice held up providing the keys to the apartment to the son. Maurice contends that the key was always accessible since she allowed the potential buyer who was named in the will as having the option to purchase the property and who the heirs were offering the property for sale, look after the property. In addition, Maurice presented evidence that the key was federal expressed to the son afew weeks after he requested same.

The owners of the property of the deceased were the son and a minor grandchild. At first, they were going to list the property with a realtor and respondent did tell them that it was their choice if they wanted to list the property. (TR-21), but a guardianship had to be set up first. Maurice tried to work with the daughter-in-law to set up trusts and the guardianships. (TR-21-22).

Maurice also contends that she laid out \$600.00 in costs and expended approximately 18 hours on the probate matter and assisting in the sale of the property and packing and shipping the personal belongings belonging to the decedent, all at the request of the daughter in law and son. (TR-24-25). The closing statement presented by Maurice at the hearing also evidenced that no payments were made to her from the estate. (TR-26). Maurice only received \$784.19 from the Buyer of the

property as payment for title insurance, reimbursement for estoppels and federal express fees (TR-32-TR-33). There is a dispute in the record of whether or not the keys upon request were given to the daughter in law and the son in a timely fashion. (TR-28). Maurice admitted without objection a copy of the closing statement evidencing the payments to her at the closing. (TR-35). In addition, the closing statement evidenced that the daughter in law received reimbursement from the sale of the home for the quardianship (TR-35) and in addition the son, who was left out of the will received from the sale of the home reimbursement for the funeral and other expenses totalling over \$3,000.00. (TR-34.) (FN3 there was no objection from the son that actually owned the home that his brother who was left out of the will and out of the ownership of the home receive reimbursement from the proceeds of sale of the home for estate expenses). The daughter in law and son asked Maurice to watch the condominium and consented the neighbor who was also the buyer in watching the condominium. (TR-29). The key was sent to the son before June (TR-29) since he had the key to gain access in July. payments made from the sale of the home were charged to the Buyer of the home and the complainants paid nothing to Maurice (TR-36-37). Maurice testified at the hearing and presented evidence that an estate was necessary in order to resolve the issue of the Social Security underpayment (TR-38 Respondent's Exhibit Two). Maurice further testified at the hearing and presented evidence that letters and keys were sent to the complainants by federal express during the course of the probate and the sale of the home. (TR-41 Respondent's exhibit 5). Maurice even hand delivered on a weekend documentation with instructions and explanations to the hotel room of the complainants. (TR-43 Exhibit 8). Maurice testified that checks for annuities which the beneficiaries asked Maurice to assist in getting payments made were sent immediately upon receipt. (TR-44-45). In June 2002, the buyer of the property finally agreed to pay all the closing costs of the purchase even though it was not customary in Palm Beach County for a Buyer to pay all closing costs. The owners of the property hired an attorney to oversee that the closing statement was correct. (TR-46. EX-11)

The bar only argued at the hearing that Maurice violated Rule 4-1.1 in regards to competent representation (TR-56) based upon the inability to account for any estate assets and 4-4.8 stating that Maurice wanted to go through probate in order to collect a fee through the estate.

There was no further argument at the hearing regarding any other ethical violation and no case law presented by the Bar. Maurice argued at the hearing that she was protecting the estate from creditors, that there was a potential malpractice action, there was a Social Security dispute, an insurance policy and a Sun trust account which had to go through probate and which were timely distributed once received after probate. The malpractice case had been discontinued by the malpractice attorney since the nursing

home had gone into bankruptcy.

Maurice argued at the hearing that as far back as May 21, 2001, less than two months after the death of deceased, she communicated with the complainants (TR-62) and never advised them other than the issue of guardianship that there was an obstacle in selling the property or listing the property. (TR-62). Maurice's argued during the hearing, if she had told them they could not sell the property and did not have the ability to sell why were contracts sent to them (TR-63), Maurice contended at the hearing, she was the one who was asked to protect the property and gather the assets of the estate in order to determine whether or not there was a probate and what kind of probate was necessary. (TR-66).

In considering a disciplinary recommendations the referee found the following aggravating factors: No prior discipline, 9.22(b) dishonest or selfish motive, 9.22(h) vulnerability o the victim, 9.22(i) substantial experience in the practic of law. Further the referee did not find any mitigating factors.

There is no prior disciplinary history found nor aggravating factors of (1) not keeping the client informed (2) misadvising the client that probate was necessary on the home when it was not. Since the recommendation, Maurice has taken many title insurance courses and probate courses which included ethics and paid the Bar in full two weeks after the referees report, the total sum of \$1,399.00.

Maurice petitioned the Court for review of the referee's decision as to the violations and disciplinary recommendation,

arguing that the violations did not occur and if they did

occur, that two year suspension is an inappropriate sanction. FN1 The deceased left her estate to her grandson and one son, having left out her other son and a daughter who Maurice claims she was protecting the heirs from since immediately after the deceased death, the daughter who was left out of the will broke into the home and stole personal property of the deceased.

FN2 The retainer agreement was of record, however, payment was never made and Maurice nor was a billing made to the son or daughter in law, respondent paid out of her own pocket all expenses of opening the probate and at no time was she reimbursed or ever requested reimbursement.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The referee's findings of fact and recommendations as to guilt of Maurice was in error. Assuming arguendo that the Referee was correct in finding of guilt as to the violations, the disciplinary recommendation of two year suspension is inappropriate.

Maurice did not misappropriate funds nor did Maurice cost the complainant's any hardship other than to attempt to follow her client's (the deceased wishes) which was to protect her estate and assets from the children that she left out of her will and out of inheriting any monies after her death and gather the assets of the estate. Maurice paid the heirs from the estate assets and assisted in selling the property at the request of the complainants.

#### ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: THE REFEREE FAILED TO FIND FROM
CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE THAT SHELLEY
GOLDMAN MAURICE COMMITTED MISCONDUCT
AND VIOLATED THE ETHICAL RULES.

In bar discipline proceedings, the referee must find the evidence of a lawyer's misconduct proven by clear and convincing evidence. **The Florida Bar v. McClure**, 575 So. 2d 176 (Fla. 1991). Further, the party seeking to overturn a referee's findings and recommendations of guilt has the burden of showing that the referee's report is clearly erroneous or

lacking in evidentiary support. The Florida Bar v. Wagner, 212 So.2d 770, 772 (Fla.1968).

The Bar ailed to introduce any case law to support their argument of the proposed discipline nor any proposed standrard for imposing lawyer sanctions. In the instant case, Maurice is seeking to overturn the referee's findings that Maurice misrepresented to her client that a probate was necessary and that Maurice caused a delay in the closing of the real estate owned by the deceased and which automatically passed to the minor grandson of the deceased and the one son of the The Florida Bar must show the necessary element of deceased. The Fla Bar v. Burke, 578 So.2d 1099, 1102 (Fla. 1991) whereby the lack of finding that the attorney intended deprive, defraud or misappropriate a client's funds supported a finding that the attorney's conduct did not constitute dishonesty, misrepresentation, deceit or fraud. Thus, the Florida Bar must establish that Maurice' actions The record fails to intentional. establish Maurice's actions were intentional.

At the hearing, Maurice established that she was only doing what was in the best interest of the estate and following the deceased's intent in making sure the inheritances of the deceased were protected against the children who were left out of the will. The Bar failed to refute these contentions made by Maurice.

At the hearing the bar only contention was that Maurice violated two codes of misconduct Rule 4-1.1 and 4-1.8 and they

were unable to prove by clear and convincing evidence that these rules were violated.

Maurice further contests the referee's finding of fact. Although a referee's findings of act carries a presumption of correctness and should be upheld unless they are clearly erroneous or there is no evidence in the record to support them. See Florida Bar. v. Vannier, 498 So.2d 896, 898 (Fla. 1986). If a referee's findings are not supported by competent, substantial evidence, the Court must reweigh the evidence and can substitute its judgment for that of the referee See Florida Bar v. MacMillan, 600 So.2d 457, 459 (Fla. 1992). A party challenging the referee's findings carries the burden of demonstrating that the record clearly contradicts those conclusions. See Florida Bar v. Spann, 682 So. 2d 1070, 1073 (Fla. 1996).

The referee herein failed to find that Maurice failed to keep the complainant advised and failed to provide the complainant with appropriate information regarding the probate of the estate. The testimony of Maurice established the reasons why she started the probate and that probate was necessary. Maurice states also she protecting the interests of the complainant and the other property owner. The referee failed to consider the evidence of Maurice presented at the hearing which included the federal express slips sending the keys to the complainant and the closing statements evidencing that the only fees that Maurice received was at the closing and the fee was not from the complainant, but from the buyer

to conduct the closing.

The violations as alleged in the complaint were not proven by clear and convincing evidence at the time of hearing and do not support the finding of the referee.

ISSUE II: TWO YEAR SUSPENSION OF ATTORNEY FOR INCLUDING NON PROBATE PROPERTY IN A PROBATE ESTATE IS CLEARLY EXCESSIVE EVEN ASSUMING ARGUENDO THAT THE ETHICAL VIOLATIONS WERE COMMITTED.

In reviewing a referee's recommended discipline, the Supreme Court's scope of review is broader than that afforded to the referee's findings of fact because ultimately it is the Court's responsibility to order the appropriate sanction; however, generally speaking the Supreme Court will not second guess the referee's recommended discipline as long as it has reasonable basis in existing case law and the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. West's F.S.A. Const. Art. 5 Section 15. The Florida Bar vs. Mark W. McFall, 863 So.2d 303, (Fla. 2003). See Florida Bar v. Anderson 538 So.2d 852,854 (Fla. 1989). Also see Florida Bar v. Temmer, 753 So.2d 555,558 (Fla. 1999).

In this instant case, the referee did not cite to case law or the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions in recommending a two year suspension for Maurice's action.

The Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions are used by the Florida Bar to determine recommended discipline to

referees and the court and to determine acceptable pleas. standards are designed for the use in imposing a sanction or sanctions following a determination by clear and convincing evidence that a member of the legal profession has violated a provision of the rules Regulating the Florida Bar to the applicable standard under the laws of the jurisdiction where the proceeding is brought. Descriptions in the standards of substantive disciplinary offenses are not intended to create grounds for determining culpability intended of the rules. The standards constitute a model to create grounds for determining culpability independent of the Rules. The standards constitute a model setting forth a comprehensive system for determining sanctions permitting flexibility and assigning sanctions in particular cases of lawyer misconduct. See, Florida Jurisprudence Section Edition V. Misconduct by Attorneys.

In imposing a sanction after finding of lawyer misconduct, a court should consider the following (a) the duty violated; (b) the lawyers's mental state (c) potential or actual injury caused by the lawyer's misconduct and (d) the existence of aggravating or mitigating factors. See <a href="Florida Jurisprudence">Florida Jurisprudence</a>, <a href="Second Edition V. Misconduct by Attorneys Professional Discipline.

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