IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

V.

Supreme Court Case No. SC04-700

The Florida Bar File No. 2002-51,684(15B)

SHELLY GOLDMAN MAURICE,

Respondent.

THE FLORIDA BAR'S ANSWER BRIEF

ALAN ANTHONY PASCAL, #961663 Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 5900 North Andrews Ave., Suite 900 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33309 (954) 772-2245

KENNETH L. MARVIN, #200999 Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 651 E. Jefferson Street Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (850)-561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR., #123390 Executive Director The Florida Bar 651 E. Jefferson Street Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Bar provided the referee with a copy of the publicly recorded November 1998 quit claim deed conveying the condominium of Helen Spelker to the heirs. Upon the death of Ms. Spelker, the condominium automatically vested in the heirs as remaindermen with the right of survivorship. Furthermore, the referee was provided with a copy of the August 5, 1999 will of Ms. Spelker that required that the previously conveyed condominium pass through a probate estate. Both legal documents were prepared by the respondent. The respondent was named personal representative in Helen Spelker's will. The referee also considered the testimony of the respondent prior to entering his findings of fact and conclusions of guilt in this case. The referee, as a probate division judge, was uniquely qualified to consider all the facts and legal issues surrounding the bar's complaint.

This Court has held a bar disciplinary action must serve three purposes: the judgment must be fair to society, it must be fair to the attorney, and it must sufficiently deter other attorneys from similar misconduct. Furthermore, the discipline must have a reasonable basis in existing case law or The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. The recommendation by the referee in the case adheres to the purpose of lawyer discipline because it is fair to society, it is fair to respondent, and would deter other attorneys from engaging in similar conduct. Moreover, existing case law supports and allows the referee's

recommendation for disciplinary measures to be applied against the respondent. The single mitigating factor found by the referee does not overcome the aggravating factors that justify the referee's recommendation that a rehabilitative suspension is warranted in this case. Given this respondent's misconduct, the aggravating factors found by the referee, the discipline given in similar cases, and The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, the referee in this case appropriately recommended a two year rehabilitative suspension along with the requirement that the respondent complete specific continuing legal education programs and pays the bar's cost in prosecuting this proceeding.

ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE PROPERLY FOUND **RESPONDENT GUILTY OF VIOLATING** THE FOLLOWING ETHICAL RULES: 4-1.1 (COMPETENCE), 4-1.3 (DILIGENCE), 4-1.4(A)(B) (INFORMING CLIENT OF STATUS OF REPRESENTATION), 4-1.7(B) (CON-FLICT OF INTEREST-DUTY TO AVOID LIMITATION OF INDEPENDENT PROFES-SIONAL JUDGMENT), 4-3.2 (EXPEDITING LITIGATION), and 4-8.4(A) (A LAWYER SHALL NOT VIOLATE RULES OF **PROFESSIONAL CONDUCT).**

The respondent presented the argument at page 10 of her initial brief that the referee's findings of ethical rule violations were not substantiated by clear and convincing evidence. A referee's findings of fact should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. The Florida Bar v. Forrester, 656 So.2d 1273 (Fla. 1995), quoting *The Florida Bar v. Marable*, 645 So.2d 438 (Fla. 1994). Because the referee is in the better position to evaluate the demeanor and credibility of the witnesses, the referee's findings of fact should be upheld if they are supported by competent, substantial evidence. The Florida Bar v. Forrester, 656 So.2d 1273 (Fla. 1995), quoting The Florida Bar v. Marable, 645 So.2d 438 (Fla. 1994). On review, this Court neither reweighs the evidence in the record nor substitutes its judgment for that of the referee so long as there is competent, substantial evidence in the record to support the referee's findings. *Id.* The party contending the referee's findings of fact and conclusions as to guilt are erroneous

carries the burden of demonstrating that there is no record evidence to support those findings or that the evidence in the record clearly contradicts the conclusions. *The Florida Bar v. Feinberg*, 760 So.2d 933 (Fla. 2000), quoting *The Florida Bar v. Sweeney*, 730 So.2d 1269, 1271 (Fla. 1998).

Cloaked with the presumption of correctness, the respondent has the burden of showing that either no evidence was found on the record to support the findings of fact or that the evidence in the record clearly contradicts the referee's conclusions of guilt. First, respondent improperly attacks the referee's findings of fact and conclusions of guilt related to ethical misconduct involving "dishonesty, misrepresentation, deceit or fraud." (emphasis added). Although initially charged with Rules Regulating The Florida Bar 4-8.4(c) [A lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation ...] in the bar's complaint, The Report of Referee (RR, 3) never found respondent guilty of violating 48.4(c). Therefore, the respondent's argument in attacking a finding of guilt for a rule violation not found within the final report of referee is meritless; and does not rebut the factual findings of the referee nor contradict the conclusions of guilt found by the referee for the remaining rules violations.

Given the findings of facts and conclusions of guilt found by the referee after a final hearing, the respondent has failed to present compelling proof that the referee's findings of fact or conclusions were clearly erroneous. The referee was

in the best position to consider the demeanor and credibility of the respondent's testimony and to evaluate the weight of the evidence introduced at the final hearing. Despite respondent's self-serving assertions that she violated no ethical rules, the referee entered findings of fact based on the respondent's testimony, pleadings, and evidence presented during the final hearing. (RR, 1). These findings of fact and conclusions of guilt were supported by clear and convincing evidence, and substantiated violations of Rules Regulating The Florida Bar 41.1, 41.3, 4 1.4(a) and (b), 41.7(b), 4-3.2 and 4-8.4(a) by the respondent. The respondent specifically failed to demonstrate how the referee's findings of fact were based on no evidence. Also, the respondent did not provide specific evidence from the record that clearly contradicts the referee's conclusions of guilt. The mere fact that the referee did not accept her testimony as credible does not obviate or disprove the referee's findings of fact or conclusions of guilt. Therefore, the findings of fact and conclusions of guilt made by the referee in this case were supported by clear and convincing evidence and should be adopted by this Court.

II. THE REFEREE PROPERLY RECOM-MENDED A TWO YEAR SUSPENSION FOR RESPONDENT'S ETHICAL MISCONDUCT AND THE REFEREE'S RECOMMEN-DATION IS SUPPORTED BY THE FLORIDA STANDARDS FOR IMPOSING LAWYER SANCTIONS AND EXISTING CASE LAW.

While a referee's findings of fact should be upheld unless clearly erroneous, this Court is not bound by the referee's recommendations in determining the appropriate level of discipline. The Florida Bar v. Vannier, 498 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1986); The Florida Bar v. Rue, 643 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1994). Furthermore, this Court has stated that the review of the discipline recommendation does not receive the same deference as the guilt recommendation because this Court has the ultimate authority to determine the appropriate sanction. The Florida Bar v. Grief, 701 So.2d 555 (Fla. 1997); The Florida Bar v. Wilson, 643 So.2d 1063 (Fla. 1994). In The Florida Bar v. Pahules, 233 So.2d 130 (Fla. 1970), this Court held three purposes must be held in mind when deciding the appropriate sanction for an attorney's misconduct: 1) the judgment must be fair to society; 2) the judgment must be fair to the attorney; and 3) the judgment must be severe enough to deter other attorneys from similar conduct. This Court has further stated a referee's recommended discipline must have a reasonable basis in existing case law or the standards for imposing lawyer sanctions. The Florida Bar v. Sweeney, 730 So.2d 1269 (Fk. 1998); *The Florida Bar v. Lecznar*, 690 So.2d 1284 (Fla. 1997). This Court will not second–guess a referee's recommended discipline as long as that discipline has a reasonable basis in existing case law. *The Florida Bar v. Laing*, 695 So.2d 299, 304 (Fla. 1997).

In addition, The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions provides a reasonable basis for the referee's recommendation of a rehabilitative suspension for the respondent. The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions 4.3 deals with the proper sanction for an attorney's failure to avoid conflicts of interest. Here, respondent opened up an unnecessary probate estate; failed to inform the heirs that their condominium had already been previously transferred to them back in November 1998; furthermore, the referee specifically found that the independent judgment of the respondent was clouded by her expressed concern for Helen Spelker's caretakers over the heirs as her clients. Moreover, Standard 4.32 suggests suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knows of a conflict of interest and does not fully disclose to a client the possible effect of that conflict, and causes injury or potential injury to a client. The delay attributable to the respondent's misconduct injured the heirs by needlessly delaying their ability to sell the condominium. The condominium should have been available for sale immediately upon the death of Ms. Spelker on April 2, 2001, absent the conflicts of interest

created by the respondent. Thus, a rehabilitative suspension is an appropriate sanction given the respondent's ethical misconduct.

The Florida Standards for Imposing Sanctions 4.4 deals with the proper sanction for an attorney's lack of diligence in representing a client. Sanction 4.42 provides that suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly fails to perform services for a client and causes injury or potential injury to a client. Again, by placing the condominium in an unnecessary probate estate, while favoring the caretaker's attempts to purchase the property, the respondent caused a needless delay in the heirs receiving the proceeds from the sale of their condominium for over a year from the date of the death of Helen Spelker. This injury to the heirs due to the respondent's lack of diligence was sufficient to provide a reasonable basis for the referee's recommendation of a rehabilitative suspension.

Florida Standards for Imposing Sanctions 4.5 deals with the proper sanction for an attorney's lack of competence in representing a client. Sanction 4.2 provides that suspension is appropriate when a lawyer engages in an area of practice in which the lawyer lacks competence, and causes injury or potential injury to a client. The respondent drafted a quit claim deed that fully conveyed Helen Spelker's condominium to the heirs upon her death. Respondent then prepared a will after the quit claim deed, requiring placement of this condominium in a probate estate upon the death of Helen Spelker. After Helen Spelker's death,

respondent opened an unnecessary probate estate where the bulk of the decedent's estate was exempt or transferred automatically upon her death. This misconduct reflected the vast incompetence exhibited by the respondent. The injury to the heirs included a lengthy delay in their ability to sell the condominium due to the respondent's incompetence. This injury provided a reasonable basis for the referee's recommendation of a rehabilitative suspension for the respondent.

Florida Standards for Imposing Sanctions 7.0 deals with the proper sanction for an attorney's violations involving duties owed as a professional. Sanction 7.2 provides that suspension is appropriate when a lawyer knowingly engages in conduct that is a violation of the duty owed as a professional and causes injury or potential injury to a client, the public, or the legal system. Again, the injury resulting from the respondent's incompetence would likewise support a recommendation for rehabilitative suspension under the Florida Standards for Imposing Sanctions 7.0.

When considering the discipline delineated in The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions, any applicable mitigating or aggravating factor must be considered. A referee's findings of fact should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. *The Florida Bar v. Forrester*, 656 So.2d 1273 (Fla. 1995), quoting *The Florida Bar v. Marable*, 645 So.2d 438 (Fla. 1994). This standard applies in reviewing a referee's finding of mitigation and

aggravation. *The Florida Bar v. Arcia*, 848 So.2d 296 (Fla. 2003). Again, because the referee is in the better position to evaluate the demeanor and credibility of the witnesses, *The Florida Bar v. Sweeney*, 730 So.2d 1269, 1271 (Fla. 1998).

The referee in the instant case found in mitigation the absence of a prior disciplinary record. In aggravation, the referee found vulnerability of the victim and respondent's substantial experience in the practice of law. The mitigating factor in this case did not outweigh the aggravating factors found by the referee in recommending the discipline for the respondent. Respondent asserts in her brief that she established the following mitigating factors for this Court's consideration:

- 1. Absence of prior disciplinary record;
- 2. Respondent is a self starter who put herself through law school and started her own firm;

3. The complainants did not lose money nor pay a fee to respondent;

4. Respondent has completed all required CLE courses since the filing of the Final Report of Referee;

5. Respondent is Chairperson of South County Bar Association's Real Estate Committee; and

6. Respondent never intentionally violated any ethical rules.

The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions 9.3 enumerates factors which may be considered and found in mitigation. The referee found specifically the absence of a prior disciplinary record as the only mitigating factor in the respondent's case. Respondent's 5 additional proffered mitigating factors found in her initial brief have no reasonable basis or correlation with any of the enumerated mitigating factors in Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions 9.32. Furthermore, while still pending at the referee level, the respondent failed to object to, or contest the language of, the proposed report of referee from the bar, and failed to submit a proposed final report on her own behalf prior to the referee filing his final report with this Court.

Therefore, the Court should rely on the referee's recommendations for discipline and adopt his recommendation for a rehabilitative suspension based on the referee's unique position to evaluate the credibility of the respondent's testimony at the final hearing. The referee properly weighed the testimony and evidence presented to him at the final hearing. Therefore, this Court should adopt the referee's recommendation for a rehabilitative suspension of the respondent.

This Court has ruled and upheld the recommendation of rehabilitative suspensions were appropriate in cases involving similar ethical misconduct. In *The Florida Bar v. Cimbler*, 840 So.2d, 955 (Fla. 2002), this Court held Respondent's conduct in neglecting client matters and failing to communicate with clients

warranted a one year suspension. This Court also held that a one year suspension was warranted when an attorney violates rules of professional conduct involving competence, diligence, and failure to communicate with clients. *The Florida Bar v. Jordan*, 705 So.2d 1387 (Fla. 1998). Finally, in *The Florida Bar v. Theed*, 246 So.2d 745 (Fla. 1971), this Court imposed a one year suspension for ethical misconduct encompassing an attorney's improper handling of a probate estate, and for the attorney's failure to properly account for assets of the probate estate.

Again, this Court should adopt the referee's recommendations for discipline. A two year rehabilitative suspension is the appropriate discipline and warranted given the egregious ethical misconduct of the respondent. The referee's recommendation has a reasonable basis in existing case law and The Florida Standards Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

CONCLUSION

This Court should approve the findings of fact and conclusions of guilt within the referee's report in this case and adopt the referee's recommendation of discipline. This recommendation of a two year rehabilitative suspension, along with the successful completion of continuing legal education programs and payment of the bar's costs, is consistent with existing case law and The Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

> Alan A. Pascal Bar Counsel The Florida Bar Cypress Financial Center 5900 North Andrews Ave., Suite 900 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33309 (954) 772-2245